# Spatial and temporal variation in the composition of riverine fish communities

Ivor Growns, Karen Astles and Peter Gehrke

NSW Fisheries P.O. Box 21, Cronulla, NSW, 2230 Australia



Water Management Fund Project No. SW1 Part 2

September 2003

NSW Fisheries Final Report Series Report No. 54

ISSN 1440-3544

# Spatial and temporal variation in the composition of riverine fish communities

Ivor Growns, Karen Astles and Peter Gehrke

NSW Fisheries P.O. Box 21, Cronulla, NSW, 2230 Australia

Water Management Fund Project No. SW1 Part 2

September 2003

NSW Fisheries Final Report Series Report No. 54

ISSN 1440-3544

Spatial and temporal variation in the composition of riverine fish communities

September 2003

Authors:	Ivor Growns, Karen Astles and Peter Gehrke
Published By:	NSW Fisheries
Postal Address:	PO Box 21, Cronulla NSW 2230
Internet:	www.fisheries.nsw.gov.au

© NSW Fisheries

This work is copyright. Except as permitted under the Copyright Act (Cth), no part of this reproduction may be reproduced by any process, electronic or otherwise, without the specific written permission of the copyright owners. Neither may information be stored electronically in any form whatsoever without such permission.

#### DISCLAIMER

The publishers do not warrant that the information in this report is free from errors or omissions. The publishers do not accept any form of liability, be it contractual, tortuous or otherwise, for the contents of this report for any consequences arising from its use or any reliance placed on it. The information, opinions and advice contained in this report may not relate to, or be relevant to, a reader's particular circumstance.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	I
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	I
SUMMARY	III
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. Methods	2
1.1 Study Site Criteria	
3. Results	6
1.2 Fish species distribution	6
1.3 Fish community structure	8
1.4 Differences in species abundance among sites	
4. DISCUSSION	
1.5 Sources of variation in fish communities	
1.6 Implications for management	
5. References	

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	The 12 survey sites on the Namoi and Macquarie Rivers sampled in February, March and May 1999 by boat electrofishing	. 3
Table 2.	Statistical model used for analysis of deviance and DISTLM.	. 5
Table 3.	Total abundances of each fish species recorded from 15 shots on three sampling occasions at each site within each reach.	. 7
Table 4.	Results of distance-based linear model analysis for differences in fish community structure	. 8
Table 5.	Significant R values for ANOSIM contrasts in community structure at 3 spatial scales.	. 9
Table 6.	Species contributing more than 20% of the dissimilarity between groups in significant ANOSIM contrasts of fish community structure at 3 spatial scales.	10
Table 7.	Significant R values from ANOSIM contrasts of fish community structure at each site among sampling occasions.	12
Table 8.	Species contributing more than 20% of the dissimilarity between groups in significant ANOSIM contrasts offish community structure at each site among sampling occasions	13
Table 9.	Significant F values from analyses of deviance for spatial and temporal differences in number of species, total abundance and the abundance of individual species	15

## **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure 1.	Locations of the 12 sites surveyed on the Namoi River and Macquarie River	4
Figure 2.	MDS ordination of sites (pooled replicates) showing spatial and temporal variation in fish community structure in the Macquarie and Namoi rivers.	. 11
Figure 3.	Mean number (+ S.E.) of species and abundance of seven fish species per electrofishing shot at each site within each river reach	. 16
Figure 4.	Mean number (+ S.E.) of species, total fish abundance and abundance of five fish species per electrofishing shot on each sampling occasion from both rivers.	. 17

i

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Funding for this study was obtained from the Water Management Fund by Dr John Harris. Sampling was conducted under the NSW Fisheries Animal Care Ethics Committee Authority 98/15. Drs Bob Creese and Steve Kennelly reviewed earlier drafts of this report.

## SUMMARY

An understanding of spatial and temporal variation, over small and large scales, is necessary when designing a monitoring program. Knowledge of large-scale temporal variation, such as that which occurs over the duration of a monitoring program, is important to enable examination of the likelihood of detecting specific levels of environmental change. Information on small-scale temporal variation is also crucial to allow determination of the frequency of sampling and to determine whether changes in the target community or species within and between seasons may affect decisions of when to sample. It also allows an understanding of how well samples from a small number of nearby sites represent the true condition of the population or community being studied.

This study showed that small-scale spatial variation and short-term temporal variability in fish community structure is significant in the Macquarie and Namoi Rivers. However, larger scale spatial differences between rivers were the largest source of variation in the data. The interaction between temporal change and spatial variation in fish community structure, whilst statistically significant, was smaller than the variation between rivers. This suggests that although the fish communities within each river changed between sampling occasions, the underlying differences between rivers were maintained. In contrast, the strongest interaction between temporal and spatial effects occurred at the smallest spatial scale, at the level of individual sites. This means that, although the composition of the fish assemblage at a given site may fluctuate, the magnitude of these changes is unlikely to affect larger scale differences between reaches within rivers or between rivers.

Large scale temporal variation, for example between years or between periods of drought and flood, were not examined in this study. However, the results suggest that sampling at any time within a single season will be sufficient to reveal any spatial differences that may occur over large spatial scales, such as comparisons between rivers, between geographical regions, or across the entire Murray-Darling basin. Monitoring programs intended to evaluate differences in fish communities at such large spatial scales need only to sample at the scale below the level of interest. For example, where the management focus is among rivers then replicate samples should be drawn from representative reaches within rivers.

### 1. INTRODUCTION

Environmental impact assessment and associated monitoring can be regarded as a test of the null hypothesis that some human action has not caused a change in the environment (Fairweather 1991). Therefore, the aim in the design of such a monitoring program should be to maximise the power of the sampling program to detect changes through time. There are several obvious ways to increase the statistical power, or the ability to detect change, of a monitoring program: by increasing the number of replicated sampling sites, by increasing the duration of the sampling program or by increasing the number of samples collected over time. However, factors such as the rate of biological or ecological change and the degree of natural variation are generally beyond the control of the researcher.

An understanding of spatial and temporal variation, over small and large scales, is necessary when designing a monitoring program, to enable the statistical power of tests to be calculated (Underwood, 1994). Knowledge of large-scale temporal variation, such as that which occurs over the duration of a monitoring program, is important to enable examination of the likelihood of detecting specific levels of environmental change (Underwood, 1992). Large-scale variation in an ecological system can affect the responses observed during a monitoring program. For example, fish communities in different geographical regions may contain different species and may therefore respond differently to the same environmental factors. Information on small-scale temporal variation is also crucial to allow determination of the frequency of sampling and to determine whether changes in the target community or species within and between seasons may affect decisions of when to sample (Fairweather, 1991). It also allows an understanding of how well samples from a small number of nearby sites represent the true condition of the population or community being studied (Chapman, 1994).

Large-scale temporal and spatial variation of the structure of freshwater fish communities in New South Wales varies mainly by river type and geographical regions (Gehrke and Harris 2000). For example, slopes and lowland rivers in the North Coast region of New South Wales have a greater abundance and diversity of fish than comparable rivers in other regions. Gehrke and Harris (2000) also showed that, although annual variation in community structure was limited between years, seasonal variation in species diversity and total fish abundance reflected a lower catchability of fish in winter. However, Gehrke and Harris (2000) did not address the influence that finer scale temporal variation and hierarchical spatial scale effects have on studies of fish communities at the scale of individual rivers, where many environmental impact studies are focussed - for example the Sustainable Rivers Audit (Cullen et al. 2000).

The present project seeks to describe and evaluate the extent of small-scale temporal variation in the structure of freshwater fish community that occurs at spatial scales of site, river reach and whole of river. Different spatial scales are examined to estimate the magnitude of variation between them and hence assess their importance in contributing to overall variability.

## 2. METHODS

#### 2.1. Study Site Criteria

The Namoi and Macquarie Rivers situated in the Murray-Darling basin were chosen for this study. Both rivers arise from the western slopes of the Great Dividing Range in northern New South Wales and are major tributaries of the Barwon-Darling River. Flows in the two rivers are regulated by Burrendong Dam on the Macquarie River and Keepit Dam on the Namoi River, creating similar flow regimes dominated by summer irrigation periods. The two rivers have similar faunas with abundant native fish (Gehrke and Harris 2000).

#### 2.1.1. Survey Method

Electrofishing was selected as the least-biased method of capturing all fish species likely to be present within a designated reach (Harris and Gehrke, 1997). Electrofishing was done using a boat-mounted 7.5 kW electrofishing system. Two anodes were suspended from booms mounted on the bow of a 5 m boat with two cathodes mounted along the sides of the boat. One person operated both the controls of the electrofisher and the boat while two people at the bow dipnetted immobilised fish from the water. During this study the electrofisher was operated at between 500-1,000 volts and 3-10 amps at 60 pulses per second and 70-90% duty cycle, depending on the conductivity of the water.

#### 2.1.2. Sampling Regime

Six survey sites were selected on each of the Namoi and Macquarie Rivers (Figure 1, Table 1). Randomly-selected paired sites were located within each of three consecutive 50 km reaches. The most upstream site on each river was established at approximately 10 km downstream of the dam. Each site was sampled on three occasions over summer and autumn 1999. Paired sites allowed local-scale variability to be assessed; reaches within rivers allowed within-river variability to be assessed, whilst the two rivers sampled enabled an assessment of large-scale variability between rivers that are geographically, geomorphologically and functionally similar. Sites were sampled approximately one month apart to assess short term variability.

Electrofishing sampled all navigable habitats within the river channel. One replicate sample (or shot) consisted of two minutes of electrofisher operation covering approximately 30-40 m of river bank in approximately 1-2 m of water. Fifteen random replicate samples were taken at each site on each occasion, to be consistent with other broad-scale fish surveys being conducted by NSW Fisheries. This gave a total of 540 replicates. All fish dipnetted from the water were counted, identified to species level where possible and returned alive to the water. Fish observed to be affected by the electric field during sampling, but not caught, were also counted when they could be identified.

River system	Site	Latitude	Longitude	Nearest town
Namoi	1-Gunnedah	30°58'28	150°15'16	Gunnedah
	2-Babette's	30°55'06	150°12'00	
	3-Broadwater No.1	30°26'56	149°56'26	Narrabri
	4-Broadwater No.2	30°24'44	149°54'28	
	5-Wee Waa	30°11'24	149°26'27	Wee Waa
	6-The Gardens	30°14'38	149°22'25	
Macquarie	7-Wellington	32°11'32	148°26'14	Wellington
-	8-Wellington	32°11'38	148°28'45	-
	9-Eschol No.1	32°22'33	148°40'30	Geurie
	10-Eschol No.2	32°23'55	148°38'20	
	11-Whylandra Crossing	32°33'47	148°58'34	Dubbo
	12-Dickygundi	32°32'48	148°55'42	

Table 1.	The 12 survey sites on the Namoi and Macquarie Rivers sampled in February,
	March and May 1999 by boat electrofishing.



Figure 1. Locations of the 12 sites surveyed on the Namoi River (sites 1 to 6) and Macquarie River (sites 7 to 12).

#### 2.1.3. Data analysis

Differences in community structure between sites within reaches, between reaches within rivers and between the Namoi and Macquarie rivers, on each sampling occasion and with all occasions pooled, were tested using distanced-based multivariate linear modelling (DISTLM) (Anderson, 2000). DISTLM can be used to perform an ANOVA-type analysis of main factors and the interaction terms between them in an experimental design (as shown in Table 2), based on a matrix of similarities between fish assemblages at different sites. The significance of the main factors and associations are tested using a randomisation technique. Data were log-transformed and range-standardised before analysis.

Pairwise comparisons for differences in fish community composition among times were done for individual sites using ANOSIM, a non-parametric method based on rank similarities among all samples (Warwick *et al.*, 1990; Clarke, 1993). The technique compares the similarity among samples within treatments with the similarity among samples between treatments. The test uses a randomisation procedure to establish a sample variance for the test statistic in which the observed value is compared with simulations under a null hypothesis. One thousand randomisations of the data were done for each comparison using the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity measure (Bray and Curtis, 1957). To reduce the chances of making a Type I error, a Bonferroni correction was applied to ANOSIM multiple comparisons by assuming that groups were significantly different at a probability of 0.005.

Species that provided the strongest discrimination between groups of sites with significantly different fish communities were identified using SIMPER analysis (Clarke, 1993). The consistency ratio (the ratio of the average to standard deviation of the dissimilarities between samples) was calculated for each species for each contrast.

The statistical model described in Table 2 was used to determine the differences in the abundance of individual fish species, total fish abundance and the number of fish species between sites, reaches, rivers and sampling occasions using analysis of deviance. Analysis of deviance was done with general linear modelling (McCullagh and Nelder 1989), with a poisson error distribution and a log link. This type of analysis is the equivalent of an analysis of variance on count data (Turak *et al.* 1999).

Source of variation	Туре	Degrees of freedom	Denominator for F test
Times	Fixed	2	Times x Reaches within Rivers
Rivers	Fixed	1	Reaches within Rivers
Times x Rivers	Fixed	2	Times x Reaches within Rivers
Reaches within Rivers	Random	4	Sites within Reaches within Rivers
Times x Reaches within Rivers	Mixed	8	Times x Sites within Reaches within Rivers
Sites within Reaches within Rivers	Random	6	Residual
Times x Sites within Reaches within Rivers	Mixed	12	Residual
Residual	Random	504	
Total		539	

#### **Table 2.** Statistical model used for analysis of deviance and DISTLM.

### **3. RESULTS**

#### **3.1.** Fish species distribution

The most abundant species caught during the project were bony herring, carp, Australian smelt and rainbowfish (Table 3). In contrast, fewer than ten individuals of freshwater catfish, silver perch, mountain galaxias and flyspecked hardyhead were caught.

Carp, Australian smelt and western carp gudgeons were present in all river reaches. However, there was considerable variation in their abundances among river reaches. Bony herring were collected only from the Namoi River, but their abundances varied considerably among reaches and between sites within reaches. Other species only recorded from the Namoi River were spangled perch and flyspecked hardyhead. Mountain galaxias was the only species collected from the Macquarie River that was not also collected from the Namoi River.

bundances of each fish species recorded from 15 shots on three sampling occasions at each site within each reach.	
Total ¿	
Table 3.	

Scientific name	Common name			Nan	noi					Macq	uarie		
		Gunn	edah	Narr	abri	Wee	Waa	Wellin	ngton	Geu	irie	Dub	bo
		-	7	б	4	5	9	٢	8	6	10	11	12
Bidyanus bidyanus	Silver perch	0	0	1	0	0	2	2	0	0	0	1	0
Carassius auratus	Goldfish <sup>a</sup>	9	0	1	4	7	7	0	0	1	0	0	0
Craterocephalus stercusmuscarum	Flyspecked hardyhead	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Cyprinus carpio	Carp <sup>a</sup>	57	105	56	57	32	167	94	115	96	151	169	207
Galaxias olidus	Mountain galaxias	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
Hypseleotris spp.	Western carp gudgeons	С	0	9	0	-	0	0	1	12	1	10	m
Leiopotherapon unicolor	Spangled perch	0	0	1	0	10	7	0	0	0	0	0	0
Macquaria ambigua	Golden perch	10	10	12	10	ς	50	1	0	0	0	0	0
Maccullochella peelii	Murray cod	9	4	11	6	5	-	1	0	9	1	14	17
Melanotaenia fluviatilis	Crimson-spotted rainbowfish	6	20	106	66	61	35	0	0	0	1	8	4
Nematalosa erebi	Bony herring	55	74	363	791	222	278	0	0	0	0	0	0
Perca fluviatilis	Redfin perch <sup>a</sup>	ω	0	0	0	1	0	24	20	0	ω	0	0
Philypnodon grandiceps	Flathead gudgeon	0	0	0	0	0	0	55	11	26	4	4	0
Retropinna semoni	Australian smelt	12	0	9	1	0	m	642	68	12	11	47	48
Tandanus tandanus	Freshwater catfish	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
Total	Total	162	217	567	973	346	552	820	219	154	176	254	283
<sup>a</sup> olion cuorice introduced from of	thar constrict												

alien species introduced from other countries.

#### **3.2.** Fish community structure

Fish assemblages at individual sites varied significantly over time, as indicated by the significant interaction between sites and times (T x S(Re(Ri)), Table 4). In contrast, fish community structure at individual reaches (T x Re(Ri)) did not vary over time, but varied between reaches within rivers (Re(Ri)). The greatest variation in fish community structure occurred between rivers, as indicated by the large mean square. The nature of differences between rivers (T x Ri) also varied significantly over time.

Source of variation	Degrees of freedom	Mean square	% variance explained	F
Times (T)	2	26486	10	3.2 ***
Rivers (Ri)	1	179699	65	6.8 ***
T x Ri	2	15558	6	1.9 *
Reaches within Rivers (Re(Ri))	4	26325	10	3.0 **
T x Re(Ri)	8	8172	3	1.2 ns
Sites within Reaches within Rivers (S(Re(Ri)))	6	8867	3	3.6 ***
T x S(Re(Ri))	12	6873	3	2.8 ***
Residual	504	2449	1	
Total	539	274428	100	

Table 4.	Results of distance-based linear model analysis for differences in fish community
	structure. * indicates p < $0.05$ , ** p < $0.01$ and *** p < $0.001$ .

The fish community structure at sites within the Wellington and Dubbo reaches of the Macquarie River, and the Gunnedah and Narrabri reaches of the Namoi River, did not differ when all three temporal samples were combined (Table 5A). Over all times, there was a significant difference between sites in the Geurie reach on the Macquarie River and the Wee Waa reach on the Namoi River, but the low R value for these differences (< 0.16) indicates that community structure within these reaches remains reasonably similar over time. The sites near Wee Waa were significantly different on two sampling occasions, but the differences between the Geurie sites could not be distinguished on any particular sampling occasion.

There was no single species that contributed consistently more than an average of 20% to the dissimilarity between sites within the Wee Waa reach (Table 6A). Carp were associated with the separation of sites within this reach. However, the low consistency ratio suggests that the differences in species abundances are not consistent between the replicate samples for that reach.

There was no significant difference in fish communities between the two most upstream reaches on the Macquarie River, Wellington and Geurie, for all sampling occasions combined (Table 5B). The differences between the two most downstream reaches on the Macquarie River, Geurie and Dubbo, when significant, always had an R-value less than 0.10 suggesting that differences in community structure between reaches were small. The largest difference among river reaches along the Macquarie River, as shown by the R-value, was consistently between the upper-most and lower-most reaches, suggesting that there is a change in community structure along the river. The two species that appear to be mainly associated with the separation of reaches within the Macquarie River were carp, which were more abundant downstream (Table 3), and Australian smelt, which were more abundant upstream (Table 3, Table 6). However, a relatively high abundance of Murray cod was associated with the separation of Dubbo from the other reaches on the third sampling

occasion. Consistency ratios ranged from 0.57 to 1.05 for species contributing to these differences, indicating a large degree of variation in abundances between reaches.

**Table 5.**Significant R values for ANOSIM contrasts in community structure at 3 spatial<br/>scales. NS indicates non significant differences between groups (p > 0.005).<br/>Differences for individual dates were tested only when the global test (all times<br/>pooled) was significant.

Contrast		All times pooled	Time 1	Time 2	Time 3
(A) Between sites within	reach				
Namoi River	Gunnedah	NS			
	Narrabri	NS			
	Wee Waa	0.16	0.34	NS	0.27
Macquarie River	Wellington	NS			
	Geurie	0.08	NS	NS	NS
	Dubbo	NS			
(B) <u>Between reaches with</u>	in a river				
Namoi River	Gunnedah v Narrabri	0.06	0.12	0.11	0.09
	Gunnedah v Wee Waa	0.07	0.11	0.16	NS
	Narrabri v Wee Waa	NS			
Macquarie River	Wellington v Geurie	NS			
	Wellington v Dubbo	0.08	0.11	0.19	0.10
	Geurie v Dubbo	0.04	0.08	NS	0.08
(C) <u>Between rivers</u>		0.20	0.12	0.38	0.23

There was no significant difference between the downstream-most reaches of the Namoi River, the Narrabri and Wee Waa reaches, for all times combined (**Table 5**B). In contrast, the fish community at the upstream Gunnedah reach was significantly different from the two downstream reaches in the Namoi River on most sampling occasions. However, the differences in fish community structure among the Namoi River reaches never differed with an R value greater than 0.16, indicating that differences in community structure between reaches, although significant, were small. The two main species that appeared to separate the Gunnedah reach from the Narrabri and Wee Waa reaches, on most sampling occasions, were carp and bony herring, which were less abundant near Gunnedah (Table 3, Table 6B). Values of between 0.89 and 1.20 for the consistency ratio for these species suggest greater consistency in the abundance of these species within reaches than was apparent for comparisons of reaches within the Macquarie River.

The overall community structure between rivers was significantly different on all sampling occasions (Table 5C, Figure 2). The difference in community structure between rivers always had an R-value greater than or equal to the differences among river reaches within each river. This suggests that difference in community structure was greater between rivers than between reaches within any one river. However, local-scale variation within the Wee Waa reach of the Namoi River (i.e., between sites 5 and 6) was greater than the difference between rivers on the first and third sampling occasions. The two species that contributed most to the separation of the two rivers were carp and bony herring on most sampling occasions (Table 6C). Carp were more abundant in the Macquarie River, whilst bony herring were only collected from the Namoi River (Table 3).

**Table 6.**Species contributing more than 20% of the dissimilarity between groups in<br/>significant ANOSIM contrasts of fish community structure at 3 spatial scales. The<br/>consistency ratio is given in parentheses. NS indicates non significant differences<br/>between groups (p > 0.005).

Contrast		Time 1	Time 2	Time 3	All times
(A) <u>Between si</u>	ites within reach Geurie	NS	NS	NS	C. carpio (0.77) P. grandiceps (0.73)
	Wee Waa	C. carpio (1.21) M. fluviatilis (1.11) N. erebi (3.14)	NS	C. carpio (1.3)	C. carpio (1.25) M. fluviatilis (1.05) N. erebi (0.98)
(B) <u>Between re</u>	eaches within rive	<u>r</u>			
	Well. vs Dubb.	R. semoni (1.05) C. carpio (0.98)	C. carpio (1) P. grandiceps (0.9)	M. peeli (0.8) R. semoni (0.65)	C. carpio (0.83) R. semoni (0.77)
	Geur. vs Dubb.	C. carpio (1.06) R. semoni (0.95)	NS	C. carpio (0.57) R. semoni (0.60) M. peeli (0.84)	C. carpio (0.71) R. semoni (0.77)
	Gunn. vs Narr.	C. carpio (1.14) N. erebi (0.89)	C. carpio (1.18) N. erebi (1.03)	C. carpio (1.09) N. erebi (1.12)	C. carpio (1.01) N. erebi (1.10)
	Gunn. vs Wee.	C. carpio (1.07) M. fluviatilis (0.99) N. erebi (1.08)	C. carpio (1.21) N. erebi (1.06)	NS	C. carpio (1.11) N. erebi (1.19)
(C) <u>Between ri</u>	<u>vers</u>	C. carpio (1.02)	C. carpio (1.17) N. erebi (1.71)	C. carpio (1.00) N. erebi (1.30)	C. carpio (0.94) N. erebi (1.11)



**Figure 2.** MDS ordination of sites (pooled replicates) showing spatial and temporal variation in fish community structure in the Macquarie and Namoi rivers. White symbols = February, grey symbols = March, black symbols = May. Circles indicate the upstream reach in each river, squares the middle reach and triangles the downstream reach.

Fish community structure differed significantly among all sampling dates at all Namoi River sites (Table 7). In addition, the first sampling occasion was significantly different from the second sampling occasion for all sites (Table 7). Community structure on the first sampling occasion was different from the third sampling occasion in only two sites on the Namoi River. At the three most upstream sites, community structure differed significantly between the second and third sampling occasions. Carp and bony herring were the species that generally contributed to differences in community structure (Table 8). The consistency ratio for bony herring between samples was generally greater than for carp, suggesting that the abundances of bony herring were less variable among samples compared to carp. Crimson-spotted rainbow fish also contributed to the differences over time for three sites, whilst golden perch contributed strongly to temporal variation at Wee Waa site 6 between the first two times.

There was no consistent pattern of differences among sampling occasions for the Macquarie River sites (Table 7). Australian smelt and carp were the species that generally contributed more than 20% to the dissimilarity among sampling occasions for the majority of sites (Table 8).

Table 7.	Significant R values from ANOSIM contrasts of fish community structure at each
	site among sampling occasions. NS indicates non-significant differences between
	groups ( $p > 0.005$ ). Differences for individual sites were tested only when the
	global test (all times pooled) was significant.

			Cor	ntrast	
		Time 1 v 2	Time 1 v 3	Time 2 v 3	All Times pooled
Namoi River	Gunnedah site 1	0.16	NS	0.19	0.12
	Gunnedah site 2	0.38	NS	0.33	0.26
	Narrabri site 3	0.38	NS	0.33	0.15
	Narrabri site 4	0.34	0.31	NS	0.26
	Wee Waa site 5	0.35	NS	NS	0.18
	Wee Waa site 6	0.43	0.25	NS	0.27
Macquarie River	Wellington site 7				NS
	Wellington site 8	NS	0.19	NS	0.14
	Geurie site 9				NS
	Geurie site 10				NS
	Dubbo site 11				NS
	Dubbo site 12	0.29	0.40	NS	0.27

**Table 8.** Species contributing more than 20% of the dissimilarity between groups in significant ANOSIM contrasts offish community structure at each site among sampling occasions. The ratio of mean percentage contribution to the standard deviation is indicated in parentheses. NS indicates non-significant differences between groups (p > 0.005). Species names summarised as the first three letters of the genus and species names.

			Contrast	
		Time 1 vs time 2	Time 1 vs time 3	Time 2 vs time 3
Namoi River	Gunnedah site 1	C. carpio (1.13) N. erebi (1.22)	NS	C. carpio (1.08) N. erebi (1.03)
	Gunnedah site 2	C. carpio (0.96) N. erebi (0.93)	NS	C. carpio (0.96) N. erebi (1.08)
	Narrabri site 3	C. carpio (1.18) N. erebi (0.85)	NS	M. fluviatilis (1.36) N. erebi (1.50)
	Narrabri site 4	C. carpio (1.05) M. fluviatilis (1.24) N. erebi (1.83)	C. carpio (1.13) M. fluviatilis (1.25) N. erebi (1.80)	NS
	Wee Waa site 5	N. erebi (2.83)	NS	NS
	Wee Waa site 6	C. carpio (1.08) M. ambigua (1.66) M. fluviatilis (1.10)	C. carpio (1.02) M. fluviatilis (1.11)	NS
Macquarie	Wellington site 7			
River	Wellington site 8	NS	C. carpio (0.95) P. grandiceps (0.71) R. semoni (0.69)	NS
	Geurie site 9			
	Geurie site 10			
	Dubbo site 11			
	Dubbo site 12	C. carpio (0.93) R. semoni (1.33)	C. carpio (0.92) R. semoni (1.38)	-

#### **3.3.** Differences in species abundance among sites

The interactions between time and site within river reaches (T x S(Re(Ri)), Table 9 and between time and river reach within rivers (T x Re(Ri)), Table 9) were not significant for the number of species, total abundance or abundance of any individual species except carp. This suggests that, apart from the abundance of carp, differences in the abundance of species between sites within river reaches, or among river reaches within rivers, were relatively constant over time. The interaction between time and rivers (T x Ri, Table 9) was not significant for any variable except the number of species (Table 9), suggesting that the difference in the average number of species between sampling occasions.

There were significant differences in the abundances of four out of ten species (carp, western carp gudgeons, golden perch and flathead gudgeons) between sites within reaches (S(Re(Ri)), Table 9). F-values for the differences between sites within reaches for all these species, except for flathead gudgeons, were larger than the differences among reaches within rivers, suggesting that these species have patchy distributions at a local scale within the Namoi and Macquarie rivers. There were large differences in the abundance of these fish species between sites within some reaches (Table 3, Figure 3b, f, d and g respectively).

Abundances of goldfish and crimson-spotted rainbowfish differed significantly between rivers (Table 9). Bony herring were only present in the Namoi River and the percentage of variance explained by the difference in the abundance of golden perch and flathead gudgeon between rivers was greater than other sources of variation. The total number of goldfish, crimson-spotted rainbowfish, bony herring and golden perch caught was greater in the Namoi River (Table 3, Figure 3c, d and e). Only the abundance of flathead gudgeon was greater in the Macquarie River (Figure 3g). The abundances of Murray cod and Australian smelt were similar between rivers (Table 3).

The number of species, total fish abundance and the abundances of carp, goldfish, bony herring, golden perch and Murray cod differed significantly between sampling occasions (Table 9). The mean number of species recorded, mean total fish abundance and abundance of each of these five fish species were lower on the first sampling occasions compared to the March and May sampling occasions (Figure 4). The abundances of bony herring, golden perch and Murray cod were similar on the March and May sampling occasions. Carp and goldfish were most abundant during May.

	species,	total abund	lance and the	abundanc	e of individ	lual species	* indica	tes p <0.05	, ** p < 0.01	and *** p	<0.001.		
Source of variation	Degrees of freedom						Var	iable					
		Number of Species	Total abundance	Carp	Goldfish	Western carp gudgeons	Bony herring	Crimson -spotted rainbow fish	Golden perch	Murray cod	Australian smelt	Flathead gudgeon	Redfin perch
Т	2	15.3***	6.1*	48.2** *	20.1***		$10.9^{**}$		13.4***	14.1***			
R	1	38.1***		$30.1^{**}$	23.3***	5.6*		23.5***	131.0***			86.2***	13.3***
Re(Ri) S(Re(Ri))	6	27.0*** 3.9*		9.7*** 28.8** *		14.1***			18.3*** 37.7***			41.1*** 39.3***	52.8***
T x Ri T x Re(Ri) T x S(Re(Ri))	2 8 12	25.1***		5.6*									
† - analysis do	ne on Namoi R	iver data only	1										

Significant F values from analyses of deviance for spatial (Ri = rivers, Re = reaches and S = sites) and temporal (T) differences in number of Table 9.



**Figure 3.** Mean number (+ S.E.) of species (a) and abundance of seven fish species (b to h) per electrofishing shot at each site within each river reach (R1 upstream to R3 downstream). Black and white bars indicate paired sites within each river reach.



**Figure 4.** Mean number (+ S.E.) of species (a), total fish abundance (b) and abundance of five fish species (c-g) per electrofishing shot on each sampling occasion from both rivers.

## 4. **DISCUSSION**

#### 4.1. Sources of variation in fish communities

We have demonstrated that small-scale spatial variation and short-term temporal variability in fish community structure is significant in the Macquarie and Namoi Rivers. However, larger scale spatial differences between rivers were the largest source of variation in the data. Spatial variation in fish community structure appeared to be similar between sites within reaches and among reaches within rivers. Carp and bony herring were the main species associated with the differences between rivers. However, the abundances of goldfish, western carp gudgeons, crimson-spotted rainbowfish, golden perch, flathead gudgeons and redfin perch also differed between rivers (Figure 4). Consequently, the differences between rivers were mostly larger than the differences among reaches or between sites within reaches. These results are similar to Gehrke and Harris (2000) who demonstrated that the composition of riverine fish communities varied among ecoregions and river types in New South Wales but showed little seasonal or annual variation.

The largest difference among sampling occasions in the present study was between the first and second sampling occasions in the Namoi River and appeared to have resulted from localised differences in the abundances of carp and bony herring. In contrast, there was no consistent pattern in the differences in community structure among other sampling occasions at other sites. This suggests that fish community structure within lowland rivers is relatively constant over one to three month time periods, although there may be short-term variation in the abundances of individual species. The short-term patterns in the abundances of individual species may be associated with different movement patterns. For example, Murray cod undergo a relatively short-distance spawning migration in late winter to early summer but there are differences in their movement patterns between rivers and under different river flow conditions (Koehn and Nicol 1998). In contrast, the same study showed that carp and golden perch are generally more mobile than Murray cod and can show abrupt large-scale movements. In contrast to the temporal changes in the abundances of these larger fish species, the smaller fish species in the present study (flathead gudgeon, western carp gudgeon, Australian smelt and crimson-spotted rainbowfish) did not exhibit any significant temporal changes in abundance.

The interaction between temporal change and spatial variation in fish community structure, although statistically significant, was smaller than the variation between rivers. This suggests that although the fish communities within each river changed between sampling occasions, the underlying differences between rivers were still detectable. Similarly, the differences among reaches within rivers were consistent over time. In contrast, the strongest interaction between temporal and spatial effects occurred at the smallest spatial scale, at the level of individual sites. This means that, although the composition of the fish assemblage at a given site may fluctuate, the magnitude of these changes is unlikely to affect larger scale differences between reaches within rivers or between rivers. These results suggest that sampling at any time within a single season will be sufficient to show spatial differences that occur over large spatial scales, such as comparisons between rivers, between geographical regions, or across the entire Murray-Darling basin.

#### 4.2. Implications for monitoring programs

The results of this study have implications for the design of future monitoring programs. The relatively small to medium-scale spatial variation in fish communities within and among reaches, compared to the large differences between rivers, suggests that a small number of sampling sites may be used to effectively describe the variation between rivers or between reaches within a river.

This recommendation is supported by studies that show that the structure of fish communities in coastal and inland rivers in south-eastern Australia is influenced by environmental factors on small geographic scales, such as habitat structure (Koehn *et al.* 1994) changes in riparian vegetation (Growns *et al.* 1997, Growns *et al.* 2003), sewage pollution (Growns *et al.* 1998) or river regulation (Gehrke *et al.* 1999, Humphries and Lake 2000, Gehrke *et al.* 2001). Therefore, sampling of riverine fish communities should be stratified within river reaches, or geomorphologically distinct river regions. Monitoring programs intended to evaluate changes in fish communities at large spatial scales, such as entire river basins, between regions within a basin or between individual rivers, need only sample at the scale immediately below the level of interest. For example, where the management focus is on differences among rivers, then replicate samples should be drawn from representative reaches within rivers.

The lack of consistent small-scale temporal variability shown during the present study and the limited variation in fish communities between years shown in other studies (Gehrke and Harris 2000) suggests that fish communities in lowland rivers are relatively stable over time. This property of fish communities can be used to advantage when assessing responses of rivers to different management scenarios. Subsequent to our study, two large scale projects (the Integrated Monitoring of Environmental Flows program initiated under the Water Reform Process in NSW and the Sustainable Rivers Audit under development for the Murray Darling Basin) are using fish as a primary indicator of ecological change in river systems.

#### 5. **REFERENCES**

- Anderson, M.J. (2000). DISTLM: a FORTRAN computer program to calculate a distance-based multivariate analysis for a linear model. Department of Statistics, University of Auckland.
- Bray, J.R. and Curtis, J.T. (1957). An ordination of the upland forest communities of southern Wisconsin. Ecological Monographs 27: 325-349.
- Chapman, M.G. (1994). Small- and broad- scale patterns of distribution of the upper-shore littorinid Nodilittorina pyramidalis in New South Wales. Australian Journal of Ecology 19: 83-98.
- Clarke, K.R. (1993). Non-parametric multivariate analyses of changes in community structure. Australian Journal of Ecology 18: 117-143.
- Cullen, P., Harris, J., Hillman, T., Liston, P., Norris, R. and Whittington, J. (2000). Scope of the Sustainable Rivers Audit. MDBC & CRCFE.
- Fairweather, P.G. (1991). Statistical power and design requirements for environmental monitoring. Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 42: 555-567.
- Gehrke, P.C., Astles, K.L. and Harris, J.H. (1999). Within-catchment effects of flow alteration on fish assemblages in the Hawkesbury-Nepean River system, Australia. Regulated Rivers: Research and Management 15: 181-198.
- Gehrke, P.C., Growns, I.O. and Astles, K.L. (1996). A comparison of fish communities associated with grassed and well-vegetated river banks in the Hawkesbury-Nepean River, NSW. In Gehrke, P.C. and Harris, J.H. (Eds) Fish and Fisheries of the Hawkesbury-Nepean River System. NSW Fisheries Final Report to Sydney Water Corporation.
- Gehrke, P.C. and Harris, J.H. (2000). Large-scale patterns in species richness and composition of temperate riverine fish communities. Marine and Freshwater Research 51: 165-182.
- Gehrke, P.C. and Harris, J.H. (2001). Regional-scale differences between fish communities in regulated and unregulated rivers in New South Wales, Australia. Regulated Rivers: Research and Management 17: 369-391.
- Growns, I.O., Pollard, D.A. and Gehrke, P.C. (1998). Changes in river fish assemblages associated with vegetated and degraded banks, upstream of and within nutrient-enriched zones. Fisheries Management and Ecology 5: 55-69.
- Growns, I.O., Pollard, D.A. and Harris, J. (1997). A comparison of electrofishing and gill netting to examine the effects of anthropogenic disturbance on fish communities in large rivers. Fisheries Management and Ecology 3: 13-25.
- Growns, I.O., Gehrke, P.C., Astles, K.L. and Pollard, D.A. (2003). A comparison of fish assemblages associated with different riparian vegetation types in the Hawkesbury-Nepean River system. Fisheries Management & Ecology 10: 209-220.
- Humphries, P. and Lake, P.S. (2000). Fish larvae and the management of regulated rivers. Regulated Rivers: Research & Management 16: 421-432.

- Koehn, J. and Nicol, S. (1998). Habitat and movement requirements of fish. In 1996 Riverine Environment Forum, R.J. Banens and R. Lehane (eds). Murray Darling Basin Commission pp 1-7.
- Koehn, J.D., O'Connor, N.A., Jackson, PD (1994). Seasonal and size-related variation in microhabitat use by a southern Victorian stream fish assemblage Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 45: 1353-1366.
- McCullagh, P. and Nelder, J.A. (1989). Generalised linear models. Monographs on Statistics and Applied Probability 37. Chapman and Hall, London.
- Turak, E., Flack, L.K., Norris, R.H., Simpson, J and Waddell, N. (1999). Assessment of river condition at a large spatial scale using predictive models. Freshwater Biology 41: 283-298.
- Underwood, A.J. (1992). Beyond BACI: the detection of environmental impact on populations in the real, but variable, world. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 161: 145-178.
- Underwood, A.J. (1994). On beyond BACI: sampling designs that might reliably detect environmental disturbances. Ecological Applications 4: 3-15.
- Warwick, R.M., Clarke, K.R. and Gee, J.M. (1990). The effect of disturbance by soldier crabs, *Mictyris platycheles* H. Milne Edwards, on meiobenthic community structure. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 135: 19-33.

#### Other titles in this series:

ISSN 1440-3544

- No. 1 Andrew, N.L., Graham, K.J., Hodgson, K.E. and Gordon, G.N.G., 1998. Changes after 20 years in relative abundance and size composition of commercial fishes caught during fishery independent surveys on SEF trawl grounds. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 96/139.
- No. 2 Virgona, J.L., Deguara, K.L., Sullings, D.J., Halliday, I. and Kelly, K., 1998. Assessment of the stocks of sea mullet in New South Wales and Queensland waters. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 94/024.
- No. 3 Stewart, J., Ferrell, D.J. and Andrew, N.L., 1998. Ageing Yellowtail (*Trachurus novaezelandiae*) and Blue Mackerel (*Scomber australasicus*) in New South Wales. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 95/151.
- No. 4 Pethebridge, R., Lugg, A. and Harris, J., 1998. Obstructions to fish passage in New South Wales South Coast streams. Final report to Cooperative Research Centre for Freshwater Ecology. 70pp.
- No. 5 Kennelly, S.J. and Broadhurst, M.K., 1998. Development of by-catch reducing prawn-trawls and fishing practices in NSW's prawn-trawl fisheries (and incorporating an assessment of the effect of increasing mesh size in fish trawl gear). Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 93/180. 18pp + appendices.
- No. 6 Allan, G.L. and Rowland, S.J., 1998. Fish meal replacement in aquaculture feeds for silver perch. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 93/120-03. 237pp + appendices.
- No. 7 Allan, G.L., 1998. Fish meal replacement in aquaculture feeds: subprogram administration. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 93/120. 54pp + appendices.
- No. 8 Heasman, M.P., O'Connor, W.A. and O'Connor, S.J., 1998. Enhancement and farming of scallops in NSW using hatchery produced seedstock. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 94/083. 146pp.
- No. 9 Nell, J.A., McMahon, G.A. and Hand, R.E., 1998. Tetraploidy induction in Sydney rock oysters. Final Report to Cooperative Research Centre for Aquaculture. Project No. D.4.2. 25pp.
- No. 10 Nell, J.A. and Maguire, G.B., 1998. Commercialisation of triploid Sydney rock and Pacific oysters. Part 1: Sydney rock oysters. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 93/151. 122pp.
- No. 11 Watford, F.A. and Williams, R.J., 1998. Inventory of estuarine vegetation in Botany Bay, with special reference to changes in the distribution of seagrass. Final Report to Fishcare Australia. Project No. 97/003741. 51pp.
- No. 12 Andrew, N.L., Worthington D.G., Brett, P.A. and Bentley N., 1998. Interactions between the abalone fishery and sea urchins in New South Wales. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 93/102.
- No. 13 Jackson, K.L. and Ogburn, D.M., 1999. Review of depuration and its role in shellfish quality assurance. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 96/355. 77pp.
- No. 14 Fielder, D.S., Bardsley, W.J. and Allan, G.L., 1999. Enhancement of Mulloway (*Argyrosomus japonicus*) in intermittently opening lagoons. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 95/148. 50pp + appendices.
- No. 15 Otway, N.M. and Macbeth, W.G., 1999. The physical effects of hauling on seagrass beds. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 95/149 and 96/286. 86pp.
- No. 16 Gibbs, P., McVea, T. and Louden, B., 1999. Utilisation of restored wetlands by fish and invertebrates. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 95/150. 142pp.
- No. 17 Ogburn, D. and Ruello, N., 1999. Waterproof labelling and identification systems suitable for shellfish and other seafood and aquaculture products. Whose oyster is that? Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 95/360. 50pp.

- No. 18 Gray, C.A., Pease, B.C., Stringfellow, S.L., Raines, L.P. and Walford, T.R., 2000. Sampling estuarine fish species for stock assessment. Includes appendices by D.J. Ferrell, B.C. Pease, T.R. Walford, G.N.G. Gordon, C.A. Gray and G.W. Liggins. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 94/042. 194pp.
- No. 19 Otway, N.M. and Parker, P.C., 2000. The biology, ecology, distribution, abundance and identification of marine protected areas for the conservation of threatened Grey Nurse Sharks in south east Australian waters. Final Report to Environment Australia. 101pp.
- No. 20 Allan, G.L. and Rowland, S.J., 2000. Consumer sensory evaluation of silver perch cultured in ponds on meat meal based diets. Final Report to Meat & Livestock Australia. Project No. PRCOP.009. 21pp + appendices.
- No. 21 Kennelly, S.J. and Scandol, J. P., 2000. Relative abundances of spanner crabs and the development of a population model for managing the NSW spanner crab fishery. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 96/135. 43pp + appendices.
- No. 22 Williams, R.J., Watford, F.A. and Balashov, V., 2000. Kooragang Wetland Rehabilitation Project: History of changes to estuarine wetlands of the lower Hunter River. Final Report to Kooragang Wetland Rehabilitation Project Steering Committee. 82pp.
- No. 23 Survey Development Working Group, 2000. Development of the National Recreational and Indigenous Fishing Survey. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 98/169. (Volume 1 – 36pp + Volume 2 – attachments).
- No.24 Rowling, K.R and Raines, L.P., 2000. Description of the biology and an assessment of the fishery of Silver Trevally *Pseudocaranx dentex* off New South Wales. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 97/125. 69pp.
- No. 25 Allan, G.L., Jantrarotai, W., Rowland, S., Kosuturak, P. and Booth, M., 2000. Replacing fishmeal in aquaculture diets. Final Report to the Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research. Project No. 9207. 13pp.
- No. 26 Gehrke, P.C., Gilligan, D.M. and Barwick, M., 2001. Fish communities and migration in the Shoalhaven River – Before construction of a fishway. Final Report to Sydney Catchment Authority. 126pp.
- No. 27 Rowling, K.R. and Makin, D.L., 2001. Monitoring of the fishery for Gemfish *Rexea solandri*, 1996 to 2000. Final Report to the Australian Fisheries Management Authority. 44pp.
- No. 28 Otway, N.M., 1999. Identification of candidate sites for declaration of aquatic reserves for the conservation of rocky intertidal communities in the Hawkesbury Shelf and Batemans Shelf Bioregions. Final Report to Environment Australia for the Marine Protected Areas Program. Project No. OR22. 88pp.
- No. 29 Heasman, M.P., Goard, L., Diemar, J. and Callinan, R., 2000. Improved Early Survival of Molluscs: Sydney Rock Oyster (*Saccostrea glomerata*). Final report to the Aquaculture Cooperative Research Centre. Project No. A.2.1. 63pp.
- No. 30 Allan, G.L., Dignam, A and Fielder, S., 2001. Developing Commercial Inland Saline Aquaculture in Australia: Part 1. R&D Plan. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 1998/335.
- No. 31 Allan, G.L., Banens, B. and Fielder, S., 2001. Developing Commercial Inland Saline Aquaculture in Australia: Part 2. Resource Inventory and Assessment. Final report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 1998/335. 33pp.
- No. 32 Bruce, A., Growns, I. and Gehrke, P., 2001. Woronora River Macquarie Perch Survey. Final report to Sydney Catchment Authority, April 2001. 116pp.
- No. 33 Morris, S.A., Pollard, D.A., Gehrke, P.C. and Pogonoski, J.J., 2001. Threatened and Potentially Threatened Freshwater Fishes of Coastal New South Wales and the Murray-Darling Basin. Report to Fisheries Action Program and World Wide Fund for Nature. Project No. AA 0959.98. 177pp.
- No. 34 Heasman, M.P., Sushames, T.M., Diemar, J.A., O'Connor, W.A. and Foulkes, L.A., 2001. Production of Micro-algal Concentrates for Aquaculture Part 2: Development and Evaluation of Harvesting, Preservation, Storage and Feeding Technology. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 1993/123 and 1996/342. 150pp + appendices.
- No. 35 Stewart, J. and Ferrell, D.J., 2001. Mesh selectivity in the NSW demersal trap fishery. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 1998/138. 86pp.

- No. 36 Stewart, J., Ferrell, D.J., van der Walt, B., Johnson, D. and Lowry, M., 2001. Assessment of length and age composition of commercial kingfish landings. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 1997/126. 49pp.
- No. 37 Gray, C.A. and Kennelly, S.J., 2001. Development of discard-reducing gears and practices in the estuarine prawn and fish haul fisheries of NSW. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 1997/207. 151pp.
- No. 38 Murphy, J.J., Lowry, M.B., Henry, G.W. and Chapman, D., 2002. The Gamefish Tournament Monitoring Program – 1993 to 2000. Final report to Australian Fisheries Management Authority. 93pp.
- No. 39 Kennelly, S.J. and McVea, T.A. (Ed), 2002. Scientific reports on the recovery of the Richmond and Macleay Rivers following fish kills in February and March 2001. 325pp.
- No. 40 Pollard, D.A. and Pethebridge, R.L., 2002. Report on Port of Botany Bay Introduced Marine Pest Species Survey. Final Report to Sydney Ports Corporation. 69pp.
- No. 41 Pollard, D.A. and Pethebridge, R.L., 2002. Report on Port Kembla Introduced Marine Pest Species Survey. Final Report to Port Kembla Port Corporation. 72pp.
- No. 42 O'Connor, W.A, Lawler, N.F. and Heasman, M.P., 2003. Trial farming the akoya pearl oyster, *Pinctada imbricata*, in Port Stephens, NSW. Final Report to Australian Radiata Pty. Ltd. 170pp.
- No. 43 Fielder, D.S. and Allan, G.L., 2003. Improving fingerling production and evaluating inland saline water culture of snapper, *Pagrus auratus*. Final Report to the Aquaculture Cooperative Research Centre. Project No. C4.2. 62pp.
- No. 44 Astles, K.L., Winstanley, R.K., Harris, J.H. and Gehrke, P.C., 2003. Experimental study of the effects of cold water pollution on native fish. A Final Report for the Regulated Rivers and Fisheries Restoration Project. 55pp.
- No. 45 Gilligan, D.M., Harris, J.H. and Mallen-Cooper, M., 2003. Monitoring changes in the Crawford River fish community following replacement of an effective fishway with a vertical-slot fishway design: Results of an eight year monitoring program. Final Report to the Cooperative Research Centre for Freshwater Ecology. 80pp.
- No. 46 Pollard, D.A. and Rankin, B.K., 2003. Port of Eden Introduced Marine Pest Species Survey. Final Report to Coasts & Clean Seas Program. 67pp.
- No. 47 Otway, N.M., Burke, A.L., Morrison, NS. and Parker, P.C., 2003. Monitoring and identification of NSW Critical Habitat Sites for conservation of Grey Nurse Sharks. Final Report to Environment Australia. Project No. 22499. 62pp.
- No. 48 Henry, G.W. and Lyle, J.M. (Ed), 2003. The National Recreational and Indigenous Fishing Survey. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 1999/158. 188 pp.
- No. 49 Nell, J.A., 2003. Selective breeding for disease resistance and fast growth in Sydney rock oysters. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 1996/357. 44pp.
- No. 50 Gilligan, D. and Schiller, S., 2003. Downstream transport of larval and juvenile fish. A final report for the Natural Resources Management Strategy. Project No. NRMS R7019. 66pp.
- No. 51 Liggins, G.W., Scandol, J.P. and Kennelly, S.J., 2003. Recruitment of Population Dynamacist. Final Report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation. Project No. 1993/214.05. 44pp.
- No. 52 Steffe, A.S. and Chapman, J.P., 2003. A survey of daytime recreational fishing during the annual period, March 1999 to February 2000, in Lake Macquarie, New South Wales. NSW Fisheries Final Report. 124pp.
- No. 53 Barker, D. and Otway, N., 2003. Environmental assessment of zinc coated wire mesh sea cages in Botany Bay NSW. Final Report to OneSteel Limited. 36pp.
- No. 54 Growns, I., Gehrke, P. and Astles, A., 2003. Spatial and temporal variation in composition of riverine fish communities. Final Report to Water Management Fund. Project No. SW1 part 2. 24pp.